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Independent auditor’s report 
 
 
To the Shareholder of JSC EVEX Hospitals and the Board of Georgia Healthcare Group PLC 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of JSC EVEX Hospitals and its subsidiaries 
(hereinafter, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For 
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that 
context. 
 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. 
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. 
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters 
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is significant to the 
consolidated financial 
statements based on its volume. 
Revenue is also an important 
element of how the Group 
measures its performance, upon 
which management are 
incentivised. Significant portion 
of healthcare services revenue is 
derived from state healthcare 
programme, where acceptance 
of services require approval by 
the Government. 
 

Based on the factors above, we 
believe that revenue recognition 
was one of the matters of most 
significance in our audit. 
 

Note 18 to the consolidated 
financial statements discloses 
information on revenue from 
contracts with customers. 

During our audit we performed the following procedures in 
respect of revenue recognition: 
• We obtained an understanding of the different revenue 
streams and evaluated the relevant controls in the revenue 
cycle; 
• We inspected a sample of invoices not yet approved by the 
Government as at 31 December 2019 and tested their 
subsequent settlement; 
• On a sample basis, we tested revenue transactions to 
supporting invoices comparing the period when revenue was 
recognised to the period services were actually provided; 
• We compared revenue recognised in accounting system with 
relevant supporting documentation; 
• We analysed monthly fluctuations and compared revenues to 
prior year to identify unusual sales trends. 
 

 

Goodwill impairment 
The Group has a significant 
amount of goodwill, which is 
tested for impairment annually. 
Significant judgement is required 
in forecasting the future cash 
flows of each CGU, together with 
the rate at which they are 
discounted.  
 
Therefore, we believe, that this 
matter was one of the matters of 
most significance in our audit. 
 
Note 9 to the consolidated 
financial statements discloses 
significant assumptions and 
estimates included in the 
goodwill impairment testing.  

• We assessed the methodology applied by management in 
determining the value in use (‘VIU’).  
• We analysed the discounted cash flow models prepared by 
management, and compared the cash flows underpinning the 
calculation with the three-year strategic plan approved by the 
Board.  
• We analysed the short and long term growth forecasts, 
compared them to historical performance and external market 
data.  
• We engaged our internal valuation specialists to assess the 
discount rate applied in the goodwill impairment testing 
model.  
• We assessed the events and circumstances occurred 
subsequent to the date when impairment test was performed. 
This included analysis of macroeconomic indicators and future 
forecasts of healthcare market in Georgia.  
• We assessed the sensitivity analysis performed by 
management, stress testing each of the above assumptions 
individually and in combination. 
• We assessed the related disclosures to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Other information included in the Group’s 2019 Management Report 
 
Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2019 Management Report, 
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management 
is responsible for the other information. The Group’s 2019 Management Report is expected to be 
made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 
 
Responsibilities of management and the Audit Committee of Georgia Healthcare Group PLC for 
the consolidated financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Audit Committee of Georgia Healthcare Group PLC is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

► Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Audit Committee of Georgia Healthcare Group PLC regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provide the Audit Committee of Georgia Healthcare Group PLC with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee of Georgia Healthcare Group PLC, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Marchello 
Gelashvili. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ruslan Khoroshvili 
On behalf of EY LLC 
Tbilisi, Georgia 
30 June 2020 
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 Notes 
31 December 

2019 
  

31 December 
2018 (restated)1 

 1 January 2018 
(restated)1 

Assets   
     

Cash and cash equivalents 5  4,564    14,404    28,790  
Amounts due from credit institutions  –   169    6,218  
Receivables from healthcare services 6  130,282    109,006    101,002  
Inventory   16,465    17,979    17,101  
Prepayments   4,460    3,074    20,125  
Current income tax assets   86    75    270  
Investment in associate   7,840    7,483    7,104  
Property and equipment 7  512,668    530,426    493,281  
Right of use asset   3,818   –  – 
Goodwill and other intangible assets 9   56,669    49,664    42,643  
Other assets 11  85,207    40,745    24,509  

  822,059   773,025    741,043  
Assets held for demerger 27 –  107,449   117,673  

Total assets  822,059   880,474    858,716  

   
     

Liabilities  
     

Accruals for employee compensation   17,475    17,954    16,852  
Accounts payable  13   43,458    33,280    40,016  
Current income tax liabilities   29    33    72  
Lease liabilities 8   4,054   –  – 
Payables for share acquisitions 15  736    2,938    3,312  
Borrowings 12  148,499    161,107    168,056  
Debt securities issued 14  111,953    93,573    93,493  
Other liabilities   4,193    6,760    4,211  

  330,397   315,645    326,012  
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for 

demerger 
27 

–   24,940    25,625  

Total liabilities  330,397   340,585    351,637  

   
     

Equity  
     

Share capital 17   47,828    56,345    53,954  
Additional paid-in capital 17  256,368    302,753    282,260  
Other reserves 17  (14,604)   (15,819)   (15,853) 
Retained earnings   132,481    131,040    122,755  

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the 
Company 

 
422,073  474,319  443,116 

Non-controlling interests  69,589   65,570    63,963  

Total equity  491,662   539,889    507,079  

Total equity and liabilities  822,059   880,474    858,716  

The financial statements on pages 1 to 43 were approved by the management board of JSC EVEX Hospitals on 30 June 2020 
and signed on its behalf by: 

 
Irakli Gogia                    Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
 
30 June 2020 

  

 
1 In 2019, the Group changed its accounting policy of property valuation and transitioned to cost model with respect to hospitals, clinics 
and office buildings. Refer to Note 3. 
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 Notes 
31 December 

2019 
  

31 December 
2018 (restated)1 

 1 January 2018 
(restated)1 

Assets   
     

Cash and cash equivalents 5  4,564    14,404    28,790  
Amounts due from credit institutions  –   169    6,218  
Receivables from healthcare services 6  130,282    109,006    101,002  
Inventory   16,465    17,979    17,101  
Prepayments   4,460    3,074    20,125  
Current income tax assets   86    75    270  
Investment in associate   7,840    7,483    7,104  
Property and equipment 7  512,668    530,426    493,281  
Right of use asset   3,818   –  – 
Goodwill and other intangible assets 9   56,669    49,664    42,643  
Other assets 11  85,207    40,745    24,509  

  822,059   773,025    741,043  
Assets held for demerger 27 –  107,449   117,673  

Total assets  822,059   880,474    858,716  

   
     

Liabilities  
     

Accruals for employee compensation   17,475    17,954    16,852  
Accounts payable  13   43,458    33,280    40,016  
Current income tax liabilities   29    33    72  
Lease liabilities 8   4,054   –  – 
Payables for share acquisitions 15  736    2,938    3,312  
Borrowings 12  148,499    161,107    168,056  
Debt securities issued 14  111,953    93,573    93,493  
Other liabilities   4,193    6,760    4,211  

  330,397   315,645    326,012  
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for 

demerger 
27 

–   24,940    25,625  

Total liabilities  330,397   340,585    351,637  

   
     

Equity  
     

Share capital 17   47,828    56,345    53,954  
Additional paid-in capital 17  256,368    302,753    282,260  
Other reserves 17  (14,604)   (15,819)   (15,853) 
Retained earnings   132,481    131,040    122,755  

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the 
Company 

 
422,073  474,319  443,116 

Non-controlling interests  69,589   65,570    63,963  

Total equity  491,662   539,889    507,079  

Total equity and liabilities  822,059   880,474    858,716  

The financial statements on pages 1 to 43 were approved by the management board of JSC EVEX Hospitals on 30 June 2020 
and signed on its behalf by: 

 
Irakli Gogia                    Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
 
30 June 2020 
  

                                                 
1 In 2019, the Group changed its accounting policy of property valuation and transitioned to cost model with respect to hospitals, clinics 
and office buildings. Refer to Note 3. 
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 Notes 2019   2018 
Healthcare services revenue  18   288,326    262,703  
Cost of healthcare services  19   (168,794)   (151,135) 

Gross profit    119,532    111,568  
     
Other operating income 20   4,267    7,558  
     
Salaries and other employee benefits  21   (21,430)   (21,609) 
General and administrative expenses  22   (10,746)   (10,801) 
Impairment of receivables for healthcare services and other receivables 23   (4,154)   (4,461) 
Other operating expenses 24   (5,137)   (8,299) 
   (41,467)   (45,170) 
     
EBITDA    82,332   73,956 
     
Depreciation and amortisation 3, 7, 9  (27,654)   (24,785) 
Interest income 25   5,421    3,532  
Interest expense  25   (25,355)   (21,876) 
Net losses from foreign currencies and cost of currency derivatives   (3,460)   (1,809) 
Net non-recurring expense 26  (751)  – 

Profit before income tax expense   30,533    29,018  
     
Income tax expense 10 –   (37) 

Profit for the year from continuing operations   30,533    28,981  
     

Net loss for the year from discontinued operations 27  (1,228)  (11,334) 
     

Total profit for the year    29,305   17,647 
     
Total profit for the year attributable to:     
- shareholders of the Company   24,328   13,820 
- non-controlling interests   4,977   3,827 
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 Attributable to the shareholders of the Company  

 
Share 
capital  

Additional 
paid-in 
capital  

Other 
reserves  

Retained 
earnings  Total  

Non-
controlling 

interest  
Total 
equity 

31 December 2017 
(restated) 53,954  282,260  (15,853)  122,755  443,116  63,963  507,079 

Effect from adoption of 
IFRS 9 −  −  −  (5,535)  (5,535)  -  (5,535) 

1 January 2018 (restated) 53,954  282,260  (15,853)  117,220  437,581  63,963  501,544 

Profit for the year –  –  –  13,820  13,820  3,827  17,647 

Total comprehensive 
income –  –  –  13,820  13,820  3,827  17,647 

Increase in share capital 2,391  17,931  –  –  20,322  –  20,322 

Acquisition of additional 
interest in existing 
subsidiaries –  –  34  –  34  (92)  (58) 

Acquisition of GHG shares –  (2,207)  –  –  (2,207)  –  (2,207) 
Dilution of non-controlling 

interest –  –  –  –  –  (2,128)  (2,128) 
Share-based compensation 

(Note 28) –  4,769  –  –  4,769  –  4,769 

31 December 2018 
(restated) 56,345  302,753  (15,819)  131,040  474,319  65,570  539,889 

 

 Attributable to the shareholders of the Company  

 
Share 
capital  

Additional 
paid-in 
capital  

Other 
reserves  

Retained 
earnings  Total  

Non-
controlling 

interest  
Total 
equity 

31 December 2018 
(restated) 56,345  302,753  (15,819)  131,040  474,319  65,570  539,889 

Profit for the year –  –  –  24,328  24,328  4,977  29,305 

Total comprehensive 
income –  –    24,328  24,328  4,977  29,305 

Acquisition of additional 
interest in existing 
subsidiaries –  –  1,131  –  1,131  (1,131)  - 

Acquisition of additional 
interest in existing 
subsidiaries by non-
controlling shareholders –  –  -  –  -  171  171 

Dilution of interests in 
subsidiaries –  –  –  –  -  1,194  1,194 

Demerger effect (8,517)   (47,146)  84  (22,887)  (78,466)  (1,192)  (79,658) 

Purchase of treasury shares –   (1,505)  –  –  (1,505)  –  (1,505) 
Share-based compensation 

(Note 28) –   2,266   –  –  2,266  –  2,266 

31 December 2019 47,828   256,368   (14,604)  132,481  422,073  69,589  491,662 
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 Notes 2019  2018 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Healthcare services revenue received    266,410    238,115  
Cost of healthcare services paid   (163,928)   (148,954) 
Salaries and other employee benefits paid    (23,005)   (19,470) 
General and administrative expenses paid    (10,110)   (10,708) 
Other operating income received    2,088    387  
Other operating expenses paid    (2,179)   (728) 

Net cash flows from operating activities before income tax   69,276    58,642  
 

 
   

Income tax paid    (51)   (213) 

Net cash flows from operating activities   69,225    58,429  

   
  

Cash flows used in investing activities   
  

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired   (877)   –  

Purchase of property and equipment   (21,132)   (49,976) 

Purchase of intangible assets   (6,349)   (8,287) 

Loans issued   (21,731)  – 

Investment in derivative financial instruments   (441)   – 

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   42    102  

Net cash used in investing activities   (50,488)   (58,161) 
 

  
  

Cash flows from financing activities   
  

Increase in equity  –   20,322  

Repurchase of debt securities issued   (30,300)  – 

Proceeds from debt securities issued   49,750   – 

Proceeds from borrowings   6,582    16,991  

Repayment of borrowings   (23,998)   (31,590) 

Payment of lease liabilities   (1,015)  – 

Purchase of GHG shares    (1,505)   (1,788) 

Proceeds from derivative financial assets  –   256  

Interest expense paid   (26,710)   (18,901) 

Net cash flows from financing activities   (27,196)   (14,710) 
 

  
  

Effect of exchange rates changes on cash and cash equivalents   (1,381)  56 
 

 
   

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (9,840)   (14,386) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning    14,404    28,790  

Cash and cash equivalents, end  5  4,564    14,404  
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1. Background 

JSC EVEX Hospitals is a joint stock company incorporated on 1 August 2014. The legal address of the Company is No. 142, 
A. Beliashvili str, Tbilisi, Georgia. The Company, together with subsidiaries indicated in this note, is referred to as the 
“Group”, ‘the Company” or “EVEX”. The Group provides medical services to inpatient and outpatient customers through 
a network of hospitals and clinics throughout Georgia. 

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, EVEX was fully owned by JSC Georgia Healthcare Group (the “Parent”). The latter is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Georgia Healthcare Group PLC (“GHG”), incorporated in London, England. EVEX’ results are 
consolidated as part of GHG’s financial statements. As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 the ultimate parent of 
EVEX was Georgia Capital PLC (“GCAP”), incorporated in London, England.  

On 1 April 2019, the parent company Georgia Healthcare Group plc updated its business structure. JSC Medical Corporation 
EVEX was divided into three segments: clinics, which include polyclinics and community clinics, hospitals, which include 
referral hospitals, and Diagnostics, which include one large laboratory facility in Tbilisi, Georgia. As a result of this demerger, 
JSC Medical Corporation EVEX was renamed to JSC EVEX Hospitals. New legal entity, JSC EVEX Clinics was formed and 
it operates as a separate company. JSC Megalab, whose results were earlier consolidated as part of JSC Medical Corporation 
EVEXs’ financials, now represent separate legal entity and is no longer part of JSC Medical Corporation EVEX/EVEX 
Hospitals. 

The Company included the following subsidiaries and associates incorporated in Georgia: 

 Ownership /Voting     

Subsidiary 
31-Dec-

2019 
31-Dec-

2018 Industry 
Date of 

incorporation 
Date of 

acquisition 
Legal address 

Subsidiaries       

GNCo 50% 50% Healthcare 4-Jun-01 5-Aug-15  Chavchavadze ave. 16, Tbilisi, Georgia 

    LLC Nefrology Development 
Clinic Centre 

40% 40% Healthcare 28-Sep-10 5-Aug-15 Tsinandali str. 9, Tbilisi, Georgia 

    High Technology Medical Centre, 
University Clinic 

50% 50% Healthcare 16-Apr-99 5-Aug-15 Tsinandali str. 9, Tbilisi, Georgia 

LLC Regional Hospital 99.8% 99.8% Healthcare 12-Jan-12 30-Jun-15 Kavtaradze str. 23, Tbilisi, Georgia 

LLC Evex-Logistics  100% 100% Healthcare 13-Feb-15 Not Applicable Vazha-Pshavela Ave. 40, Tbilisi, Georgia 

LLC Referral Centre of Pathology** − 100% Healthcare 29-Dec-14 Not Applicable Vazha-Pshavela Ave. 40, Tbilisi, Georgia 

JSC St. Nicholas Surgery Clinic** − 97% Healthcare 10-Nov-00 20-May-08 Paolo Iashvili str. 9, Kutaisi, Georgia 

JSC Kutaisi County Treatment and 
Diagnostic Centre for Mothers and 
Children 

67% 67% Healthcare 5-May-03 29-Nov-11 Djavakhishvili str. 85, Kutaisi, Georgia 

LLC Academician Z. Tskhakaia 
National Centre of Intervention 
Medicine of Western Georgia 

67% 67% Healthcare 15-Oct-04 29-Nov-11 A Djavakhishvili str. 83A, Kutaisi, Georgia 

LLC Tskaltubo Regional Hospital* − 67% Healthcare 29-Sep-99 29-Nov-11 Eristavi str. 16, Tskhaltubo, Georgia 

NCLE Evex Learning Centre 100% 100% Other 20-Dec-13 20-Dec-13  Javakhishvili str. 83a, Tbilisi, Georgia 

LLC Emergency Service*** 85% 100% Healthcare 18-Jun-13 1-Mar-15 U. Chkeidze str. 10, Tbilisi, Georgia 

JSC Patgeo* − 100% Healthcare 13-Jan-10 1-Aug-16 
Mukhiani, II mcr. District, Building 22, 1a, 

Tbilisi, Georgia 

JSC Pediatry 76% 76% Healthcare 5-Sep-03 6-Jul-16 U. Chkeidze str. 10, Tbilisi, Georgia 

JSC Mega-Lab* − 100% Healthcare 6-Jun-17 Not Applicable Petre Kavtaradze str. 23, Tbilisi Georgia 

LLC Evex-Collection** − 100% Healthcare 25-Mar-16 Not Applicable Vazha-Pshavela Ave. 40, Tbilisi, Georgia 

LLC New Clinic 100% 100% Healthcare 3-Jan-17 20-Jul-17 Vazha-Pshavela Ave. 40, Tbilisi, Georgia 

LLC Aliance Med* − 100% Healthcare 7-Jul-15 20-Jul-17 Vazha-Pshavela Ave. 40, Tbilisi, Georgia 

JSC Polyclinic Vere* − 97.8% Healthcare 22-Nov-13 25-Dec-17 Kiacheli str. 18-20, Tbilisis Georgia 

LLC New Dent* − 100% Healthcare 24-Dec-18 Not Applicable Vazha-Pshavela Ave. 40, Tbilisi, Georgia 

       

Associates       

LLC 5th Clinical Hospital 35% 35% Healthcare 16-Sep-99 4-May-16 
Temka, XI mcr. Block 1, N 1/47, Tbilisi, 

Georgia 

NPO Healthcare Association 25% 25% Healthcare 25-Mar-16 Not Applicable Vazha-Pshavela Ave.  27b, Tbilisi, Georgia 

NPO Georgian Medical Tourism 
Council 

28.6% - Healthcare 25-Mar-16 Not Applicable 
I-II floor, house N10, N 13, b. N1 almond 

Gardens Street, tskneti, Vake district, Tbilisi 

*    Starting from 2019 parent has updated its business structure. JSC Medical Corporation EVEX was divided into three segments: clinics, which include polyclinics and community 
clinics, hospitals which include referral hospitals and Diagnostics. As a result of this demerger, JSC Evex Medical Corporation was renamed to JSC Evex Hospitals. New legal 
entity, JSC Evex Clinics was formed and it operates as separate business line. LLC Tskaltubo Regional Hospital, LLC Aliance Med, JSC Polyclinic Vere and LLC New Dent are 
subsidiaries of JSC Evex Clinics as at 31 December 2019. JSC Mega-Lab and JSC Patgeo also demerged from JSC Evex Medical Corporation and now represent Diagnostics 
segment. 

** Subsidiaries were merged with JSC Medical Corporation EVEX/JSC Evex Hospitals in 2019 (the group purchased non-controlling interest in JSC St. Nicholas Surgery Clinic 
and it became 100% shareholder of the entity before the merger) 

*** LLC Catastrophe Medicine Paediatric Centre was merged with LLC Emergency Service and renamed as LLC Emergency Service in November 2019. 
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2. Basis of Preparation 

Basis of preparation  

The Company’s and Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") interpretations endorsed by the European 
Union ("EU"), and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.  The principal 
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investment properties and 
derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value.  

These consolidated financial statements have been presented in thousands of Georgian Lari (GEL), except otherwise stated. 

Going concern  

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied 
that it has the resources to continue in business for a period of at least 12 months from the approval of the financial statements. 
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis. 

Reclassifications 

Due to adoption of IFRS 16, right of use assets balance originated in 2019. The Company reconsidered the presentation of 
its financial statements and for the purpose of more informative presentation, separately presented the right of use assets on 
the face of the consolidated statement of financial position. The presentation of comparative figures has been adjusted to 
conform to the presentation of the current period balances: 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
As previously 
reported, 2018 

Transition to 
cost model, 2018 As adjusted, 2018 

Property and equipment  539,790   (9,364)  530,426  

 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
As previously 
reported, 2017 

Transition to 
cost model, 2017 

As adjusted, 2017 

Property and equipment  502,645   (9,364)  493,281  

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Changes in accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements are consistent with those 
followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, 
apart from IAS 16 Property and Equipment as presented below.  

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of EVEX Hospitals and its subsidiaries as at 
31 December 2019. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee); 

 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

Basis of consolidation (continued) 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts 
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 

 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of the three elements of control. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during 
the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the 
Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the Group and to 
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.  

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 
with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate 
of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets and other components of non-controlling 
interests at their acquisition date fair values. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in other operating 
expenses. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-
assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures 
used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair 
value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition 
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent 
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9, is measured at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of IFRS 9, 
it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, current accounts and amounts due from credit institutions that mature 
within three months from the date of origination, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value and are free from contractual encumbrances. 

Receivables from healthcare services 

Receivables from healthcare services are recognised initially at the transaction price deemed to be fair value at origination date. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. The 
carrying value of healthcare receivables is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable, with any impairment loss recorded in the consolidated profit or loss. Receivables from the 
state are due within 30 working days upon approval of invoices. Invoice review and approval process takes up to 60 working 
days according to Georgian legislation. Payment terms for parties other than the state are negotiated individually and range 
between 30 to 180 calendar days. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

Financial assets 

Financial assets in the scope of IFRS 9 are classified either as measured at fair value or measured at amortised cost, as 
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial 
assets upon initial recognition.   

The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or originated.  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted on an active 
market. These investments are initially recognised at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition 
of the investment. All transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are also included in the cost of the investment. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group of 
financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.  

As part of its risk management, the Group uses foreign exchange option and forward contracts to manage exposures resulting 
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Such financial instruments are measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried 
as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative. Gains and losses resulting from the derivative 
contracts are included in the consolidated profit or loss in net gains/ (losses) from foreign currencies. 

Allowances for impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  If there is objective 
evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The amount of 
the impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.  

Carried at amortised cost 

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that no 
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is 
included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively 
assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues 
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does 
not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. When an asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance 
for impairment. Such assets are written off after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has 
been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the charge for impairment of financial 
assets in the consolidated profit or loss. 

Derecognition of financial instruments 

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, if applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when 
the following conditions are met: 

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

 the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset, or retained the right to receive cash flows from 
the asset but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third-party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and 

 the Group either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. Where the 
Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset that is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

Derecognition of financial instruments (continued) 

Borrowings 

A borrowing is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires and if its terms are 
substantially modified. 

Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expense will not be offset in the profit or loss unless 
required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation. The Group has not offset any of its assets and liabilities 
or income and expenses. 

Fair value measurement 

At each reporting date, the Group revalues its derivative financial instruments. Fair values of financial instruments measured 
at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 31. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 
participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.  

Property and equipment 

Voluntary change in accounting policy 

In the second half of 2019, the Group changed its accounting policy with respect to hospitals and clinics and office buildings. 
The Group now applies the cost model, where assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment. Prior to this change in policy, the Group applied the revaluation model, where hospitals and clinics and office 
buildings were carried at the fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Hospitals and clinics category comprise buildings and related land where 
healthcare facilities are placed. 

The Group believes that cost model provides more reliable and more meaningful presentation for investors because it 
enhances comparability for the investors as the application of the cost model is a market practice across the industry and it 
more closely aligns the accounting with the business model around these asset categories. The cost model has been applied 
by restating each of the affected consolidated financial statement line items for the prior periods, as follows: 

 
31 December 

2019 
 31 December 

2018 
 

1 January 2018 
Assets      
Property and equipment (9,364)  (9,364)  (9,364) 
Assets held for demerger -  (7,033)  (7,033) 

Total Assets (9,364)  (16,397)  (16,397) 

      
Equity      
Other reserves (8,934)  (15,644)  (15,644) 
Non-controlling interest (430)  (753)  (753) 

Total Equity (9,364)  (16,397)  (16,397) 

The change in accounting policy of office buildings and service centres did not have a material impact on the Group’s 
consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

Property and equipment (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019, Property and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition 
criteria are met. The carrying values of property and equipment classes carried at cost are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognised 
in the consolidated profit or loss as other operating expense. 

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following 
estimated useful lives:  

 Years 
Office buildings 100 
Hospitals and clinics 100 
Leasehold improvements 10 
Furniture and fixtures 5-10 
Medical equipment 5-10 
Computers  5 
Motor vehicles 5 

The asset’s residual value and useful life are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial year end. Costs related to 
repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in other operating expenses unless they qualify for capitalisation. 
An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognising of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated profit or loss in the period the asset is 
derecognised. 

An asset under construction comprises costs directly related to construction of property and equipment including an 
appropriate allocation of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads that are required to bring an asset to location and 
position necessary for intended use by the management. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as similar property 
assets, commences when the assets are ready for use. 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of ten years or the life of the related leased asset. The asset’s residual 
value and useful life are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial year end. 

Hedge accounting 

The Group has adopted fair value hedge accounting in accordance with IFRS 9 for foreign exchange component of two of 
its fixed assets. Due to a strong correlation between real estate prices in Lari terms and US$ – GEL exchange rates published 
by the National Bank of Georgia, holding other factors constant, we designated US$ denominated borrowings as a hedging 
instrument and the foreign exchange component of the fixed asset price change as the hedged item. The Group continues to 
assess hedge effectiveness on a quarterly basis. 

If hedge effectiveness conditions will hold and the hedge is found to be effective any increase (decrease) in the value of hedged 
real estate caused by changes in US$ exchange rate will be offset by an equivalent increase (decrease) of US$ denominated 
borrowing. If the hedge is found to be partially ineffective, to the extent these amounts differ, a net amount is recognised in 
profit or loss, in net (losses)/gains from foreign currencies. The recognition of the latter difference is commonly referred to 
as the measurement of hedge ineffectiveness. As at 31 December 2019 fair value of financial instruments designated as hedging 
instruments equalled GEL 12,661 (2018: GEL 15,805, of which GEL 3,988 was attributable to assets held for demerger).  

Investment in associates  

The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method. The aggregate of the Group’s share of 
profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss outside operating profit and represents 
profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate. The financial statements of the associate 
are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting 
policies in line with those of the Group.  

At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is 
impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within ‘Share of profit of an 
associate’ in the statement of profit or loss. Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and 
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of 
significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

Inventory 

Inventory comprises medical supplies and non-medical supplies and is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
The cost of inventory is determined on a weighted average basis and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring inventory and 
bringing it to its existing location and condition.  

Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. 
After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
and losses are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss when the borrowings are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process.  

Borrowing costs comprise interest expense calculated using the effective interest method and exchange differences arising 
from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of such asset. All other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the year in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.  

Taxation 

The current income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the regulations in force in Georgia. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the liability method. Deferred income taxes are provided for 
all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting 
purposes, except where the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss.  

A deferred tax asset is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.  

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, 
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Georgia also has various operating taxes that are assessed on the Group’s activities. These taxes are included as a component 
of general and administrative expenses.  

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets include computer software and licenses.  

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised over the useful 
economic lives of such assets of between four to ten years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the intangible asset may be impaired. 

Amortisation periods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year end. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recorded as an expense as incurred. Software 
development costs (relating to the design and testing of new or substantially improved software) are recognised as intangible 
assets only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the software so that it will be available for 
use, its intention to complete and its ability to use the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability 
of resources to complete and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Other software 
development costs are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. 

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as an asset but only when it is 
virtually certain that it will be received.  
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

Share-based compensation transactions 

Senior executives of the Group receive share-based compensation, whereby employees render services as consideration for 
the equity instruments of GHG. Share-based compensation plans announced by GHG represent equity-settled transactions.  

Equity 

Equity-settled transactions 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted at the date of the transaction. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised together with the corresponding 
increase in additional paid-in capital, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending 
on the date when the relevant employee is fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised 
for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The consolidated profit 
or loss charge for the period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that 
period. 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other than on a business 
combination, are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received 
over the par value of shares issued is recognised as additional paid-in capital. 

Dividends 

Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the reporting date only if they are declared before or on 
the reporting date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the reporting date or proposed or declared after 
the reporting date but before the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

Income and expense recognition 

Interest income  

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). The EIR 
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a 
shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included in finance 
income in the statement of profit or loss. 

Healthcare services revenue 

The Group recognises revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  

Healthcare services that the Group provides to the clients are satisfied over time given that the customer simultaneously 
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. Healthcare services revenue comprises the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable for providing inpatient and outpatient services and include the following components: 

 Healthcare services revenue from State – The Group recognises the revenue from the individuals who are insured 
under the State programmes by reference to the stage of completion of the actual medical service and the agreed-upon 
terms between the counterparties.  

 Healthcare services revenue from insurance companies – The Group recognises revenue from the individuals who are 
insured by various insurance companies by reference to the stage of completion of the actual medical service and 
agreed-upon terms between the counterparties. 

 Healthcare services revenue from out-of-pocket and other – The Group recognises out-of-pocket and other revenue 
by reference to the stage of completion of the actual medical service and approved prices by the Group. Sales are 
usually in cash or by credit card. Other revenue from medical services includes revenue from municipalities and other 
hospitals, which the Group has contractual relationship with. Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period 
in which the services are rendered and are calculated according to contractual tariffs. 

Revenue is presented net of corrections and rebates that occasionally arise as a result of reconciliation of detailed bills with 
counterparties (mostly with the State). Invoice corrections are estimated at contract inception. The estimation of potential 
future corrections and rebates is calculated based on statistical average correction rate which is applied to gross amount of 
invoices that were not approved by the state as at reporting date. The Group’s gross revenue (before deducting its corrections 
and rebates) is based on the official invoices submitted to and formally accepted by the customers (State, insurance companies, 
provider clinics and individuals) and accruals for already performed but not yet billed service.   
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

Income and expense recognition (continued) 

Cost of healthcare services  

Cost of healthcare services represents expenses directly related to the generation of revenue from healthcare services rendered, 
including but not limited to salaries and benefits of medical personnel, materials and supplies, utilities and other direct costs.  

EBITDA 

The Group separately presents EBITDA on the face of statement of comprehensive income. EBITDA is defined as earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation and is derived as the Group’s Profit before income tax expense but 
excluding the following line items: depreciation and amortisation, interest income, interest expense, net losses from foreign 
currencies and net non-recurring (expense)/income. 

Net non-recurring (expense)/income 

The Group separately classifies and discloses those income and expenses that are non-recurring by nature. Any type of income 
or expense may be non-recurring by nature. The Group defines non-recurring income or expense as income or expense 
triggered by or originated from an unusual economic, business or financial event that is not inherent to the regular and ordinary 
business course of the Group and is caused by uncertain or unpredictable external factors. 

Foreign currency translation 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Georgian Lari, which is the Group’s presentation currency and 
functional currency of all the Group’s components. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functiona l 
currency, converted at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated into Georgian Lari at official exchange rates declared by the National Bank of Georgia 
(“NBG”) and effective as at the reporting date. Gains and losses resulting from the translation of foreign currency transactions 
are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss within net losses from foreign currencies. 

Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a transaction in a foreign currency and the NBG exchange rate on the 
date of the transaction are included in net losses from foreign currencies in the consolidated profit or loss. The official NBG 
exchange rates at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were 2.8677 and 2.6766 Georgian Lari to 1 US Dollar, 
respectively. 

Financial instruments 

(a) Classification and measurement 

Classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 have no significant impact on Group’s statement of financial position 
or equity on applying the classification. The Group continues measuring at amortised cost all financial assets and liabilities 
except for derivative financial instruments and payables for share acquisitions that are measured at fair value. These items 
include: cash and cash equivalents, healthcare receivables, loans issued/acquired, borrowings, debt securities issued and 
accounts payable.  

Loans and receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give rise to cash flows representing solely 
payments of principal and interest. The Group analysed the contractual cash flow characteristics of those instruments and 
concluded that they meet the criteria for amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9. Therefore, reclassification for these 
instruments is not required. 

(b) Impairment 

IFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and receivables, either on a 12-
month or lifetime basis. The Group applies the simplified approach and records lifetime expected losses on all receivables, 
loans and contract assets.  

The primary impact of adoption of the new impairment methodology was on the allowance on receivables from healthcare 
services. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Due to the short-term and highly liquid nature of these financial assets, the Group has assessed corresponding credit losses 
to be immaterial. Therefore, no impairment was recognised for Cash and cash equivalents under IFRS 9. 
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3.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Financial Instruments (continued) 

(b) Impairment (continued) 

Healthcare receivables 

In applying the simplified impairment approach under IFRS 9, the Group implemented three different assessment methods 
based on type of receivables: 

1. Individual assessment for Receivables from government;  
2. Individual assessment for all other material receivables (with a balance above GEL 250 thousand); and 
3. Collective assessment for all other receivables. Receivables with shared credit risk characteristics are combined in 

different portfolios for collective assessment. The Group has identified the following main types of portfolios (with 
a balance less than GEL 250 thousand): receivables from healthcare services (mainly receivables from individuals), 
rent receivables and other receivables.  

Receivables from government 

JSC Evex Hospitals participates in the Georgian state insurance programme - Universal Health Care Programme (“UHC”). 
As a result, a significant part of receivables from healthcare services (approximately 70%) is due from the Georgian 
Government and municipal authorities. Receivables from government have unique credit characteristics, which are different 
from those of any other financial instrument currently owned by the Group. Considering this fact and materiality of 
corresponding balance, the Group has concluded that receivables from government should be considered for impairment on 
an individual basis, separately from all other financial instruments. 

The Group uses credit ratings published by international agencies, such as Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) or Moody’s, in order 
to assess credit quality of state receivables. Similarly, the probabilities of default to the respective category of credit rating 
assigned to Georgia based on reports by the same international agencies are used as a reasonable approximation of probability 
of default (“PD”) for receivables from government. PD for receivables from government was based on the country’s risk 
rating. The Group will reconsider the PD rate used in the impairment calculations at each reporting date. 

Individually assessed debtors 

For debtors a with receivable balance above GEL 250 thousand, the Group considers each case individually and takes into 
account various factors and individual circumstances. This process consists of two main stages:  

1) Counterparty’s financial position is assessed based on: a) financial results and ratios (when available); b) average 
receivable overdue days to the Group; and c) any other non-financial information available to the Group, such as any 
news relevant to market sector in which particular debtor operates, management inquiries, etc. 

2) Based on this analysis, counterparty is then categorised by the Group’s management for credit risk assessment and 
moved to collective assessment. Each credit category is assigned with corresponding expected credit loss rate, 
determined based on experience, management’s professional judgment and expectations for the future. Assessments are 
performed on a quarterly basis. Macro-adjustments are incorporated based on regression results and dependency factor 
on GDP growth. Financial ratios in this model are updated on an annual basis, after/if audited financial statements of 
the counterparty are published, while average overdue days, non-financial information and expectations for the future 
are updated monthly. 

Collective assessment 

For the purposes of implementing collective impairment assessment of receivables from insurance companies and other large 
counterparty entities under IFRS 9, debtor portfolios are segregated into distinct risk buckets based on number of overdue 
days. In defining 180 days as a cut-off period for default definition, the Group considered actual payment history of insurance 
companies and other large counterparty entities. Overdue of three to six months was usual among creditworthy counterparties, 
while more than six months period marked the sign for financial trouble. The statistics were based on the Group’s internal 
data. Five separate risk buckets were implemented as presented below: 

 

 

  

Overdue Days Category Description 

0-30 AA Excellent 
31-60 A Good 
61-90 B Normal 
91-180 C Bad 
181+ D Default 
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3.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Financial Instruments (continued) 

(b) Impairment (continued) 

As for collective impairment assessment of receivables from individuals and other small counterparties, the Group has five 
separate risk buckets as presented below: 

Overdue Days Category Description 

0-29 A Good 
30-59 B Normal 
60-89 C Bad 
90+ D Default 

IFRS 9 allows an entity to use a simplified “provision matrices” for calculating expected losses as a practical expedient (e.g., 
for receivables), consistent with the general principles for measuring expected losses. However, IFRS 9 also requires 
incorporating forward-looking information in the entity’s impairment framework.  

The Group has decided to use this option and utilise provision matrices in estimation of ECLs in case of collective assessment 
of impairment. As mentioned above, the Group adopted the simplified approach for receivables and directly considers life-
time losses for the entire portfolio i.e. expected lifetime credit losses will be recognised for the entire portfolio regardless 
whether or not significant increase in credit risk occurred since initial recognition. A migration matrix was used as a base for 
determination of probability of defaults by categories. Exposure at default was defined as the outstanding balance of debtor 
exposure. 

Forward looking component 

Additionally, the Group incorporated macroeconomic forward-looking information in the analysis to determine adjusted 
default probabilities by categories. Considering the fact that debtors mainly consist of individuals or small entities from widely 
diverse regions from Georgia, the Group believes that country-wide economic performance measure is good fit for 
the purposes of expected performance evaluation of the individually small debtors from all over the country. As such, real 
GDP growth rate was assessed to be the best macro-economic indicator on two arguments:  

1) GDP growth rate is the single most important economy performance indicator that is closely tied to actual well-being of 
the citizens and small entities; and 

2) GDP growth rate is easily obtainable and has both, consistent historical records as well as state forecast for coming years 
enabling to incorporate in the expected credit loss modelling. The Group regressed GDP growth rates over the past two years 
on impairment rates (which is the same as Probability of Default (“PD”) assuming 100% Loss Given Default (“LGD”)) and 
found a statistically significant dependency factor. 

(c) Hedge accounting 

The Group determined that all existing hedge relationships that are currently designated in effective hedging relationships 
continue to qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS 9. The Group has chosen not to retrospectively apply IFRS 9 on 
transition to the hedges where the Group excluded the forward points from the hedge designation under IAS 39. As IFRS 9 
does not change the general principles of how an entity accounts for effective hedges, applying the hedging requirements of 
IFRS 9 did not have a significant impact on Group’s financial statements. 

Write-off policy 

The Group writes off financial assets when it becomes aware that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery based on the 
pre-determined indicators. These indicators are the bankruptcy of the counterparty, court decision or more than two years of 
overdue period. Any receivable that has not been ruled by the court to be uncollectible, are continued to be enforced by the 
company regardless the number of overdue days. In accordance with Georgian legislation, due to statute of limitation, the 
Group is unable to enforce collection of receivables if 3 years from the date of last written reminder to the counterparty have 
passed.  

The Group writes-off financial liabilities when the statute of limitation expires. Such write-offs are recognised in other 
operating income. 
  



JSC EVEX Hospitals Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

(Thousands of Georgian Lari unless otherwise stated) 
 

21 

3.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations 

The standards and interpretations relevant to the Group that are issued up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial 
statements are disclosed below. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have 
been issued but are not yet effective.  

The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of this new 
accounting standard is described below. 

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2019, but do not have an impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have 
been issued but are not yet effective. 

IFRS 16 Leases  

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-
Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out 
the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most 
leases on the balance sheet. 

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either 
operating or finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17. Therefore, IFRS 16 does not have an impact for leases where 
the Group is the lessor. 

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption, with the date of initial application of 1 
January 2019. The Group elected to use the transition practical expedient to not reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a 
lease at 1 January 2019. Instead, the Group applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. The Group also elected to use the recognition exemptions for 
lease contracts that, at the commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option 
(short-term leases), and lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value (low-value assets). 

The effect of adoption IFRS 16 is as follows: 

 Amount, GEL 

Assets  
Property and Equipment 673 

Total assets 673 
  

Liabilities  

Lease liabilities 673 

Total liabilities 673 

Impact on the statement of profit or loss (increase/(decrease)) for the year ended 31 December 2019:  

 Amount, GEL 

Occupancy and rent (included in general and administrative expenses)  788  

Other operating income  252  

Other operating expense  (25) 

EBITDA  1,015  

Depreciations and amortization  (805) 

Interest expense  (188) 

Net gains (losses) from foreign currencies  (61) 

Profit for the period  (39) 

Attributable to:  

- shareholders of the Company  (39) 

- non-controlling interests – 

Impact on the statement of cash flows (increase/(decrease)) for the year ended 31 December 2019: 

 Amount, GEL 

Net cash flows from operating activities  1,015 

Net cash flows from financing activities  (1,015) 
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3.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

IFRS 16 Leases (continued) 

The difference between operating lease commitments as of 31 December 2018 and IFRS 16 adoption impact results from 
short-term and low-value leases on which the Group has applied exemptions detailed above. There is no material impact on 
other comprehensive income.  

a) Nature of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16 

Before the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as either a finance lease 
or an operating lease. A lease was classified as a finance lease if it transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of the leased asset to the Group; otherwise it was classified as an operating lease. Finance leases were capitalised 
at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. Lease payments were apportioned between interest (recognised as finance costs) and reduction 
of the lease liability. In an operating lease, the leased property was not capitalised and the lease payments were recognised as 
rent expense in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any prepaid rent and accrued rent 
were recognised under prepayments and trade and other payables, respectively. Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Group applied 
a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases that it is the lessee, except for short-term leases of emergency 
cars and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognised lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 
representing the right to use the underlying assets. In accordance with the modified retrospective method of adoption, the 
Group did not restate comparative information upon adoption. Additionally, there were no differences between assets and 
liabilities to be recognised in opening retained earnings as at the adoption date.  

As at 1 January 2019:  

 Property and equipment of GEL 673 were recognised and presented separately in the statement of financial position. 

 Finance lease liabilities of GEL 673 were recognised. 

For the year ended 31 December 2019: 

 Depreciation expense increased by GEL 805 relating to the depreciation of additional assets recognised. 

 General and administrative expenses decreased by GEL 788 relating to previous operating leases.  

 Interest expense increased by GEL 188 relating to the interest expense on additional lease liabilities recognised. 

 The Group recognised net loss from foreign currencies of GEL 61 relating to revaluation of finance lease liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies. 

 Cash outflows from operating activities increased by GEL 1,015 and cash outflows from financing activities increased 
by the same amount, representing the payments for the principal and interest portion of recognised lease liabilities. 

Right-of-use assets  

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available 
for use). Right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at fair value, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets 
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any 
lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease 
term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and 
the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 

Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments 
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any 
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be 
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the 
option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the 
period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance 
fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. As at transition date the Group used the 
followings incremental borrowings rates by currencies: US dollar: 6.0%; Georgian Lari: 11.0%.  
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3.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

IFRS 16 Leases (continued) 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of emergency cars (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also 
applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value (i.e., 
below USD 5,000). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options 

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option 
to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it 
is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise 
the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. 
After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances 
that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in business 
strategy). The Group analysed its lease contracts and established the following: all contracts contain either monetary or 
economic penalties over the entire contract term. In most of the cases, in case of cancellation by the lessor there is a monetary 
penalty requiring it to repay the lessee all amounts initially spent on leasehold improvements. In virtually all cases, there is an 
economic penalty for both parties upon cancellation of a lease contract. For the lessee the economic penalty is the significant 
time and effort involved in finding a new location and making leasehold improvements to fit the new location to the specific 
needs. For the lessor, the economic penalty is forgoing a stable relationship with creditworthy lessee and potentially lost 
income during a vacancy period in which a new tenant is sought.  In practical terms, based on the Group’s historical statistical 
information, the abovementioned monetary and economic penalties translate into stable relationships and lease contracts that 
are prematurely cancelled in only under 1% of cases. Based on the above consideration, the Group concluded that it is 
appropriate to define the lease term as the period of the entire contract term, since even if monetary penalties are prescribed 
only on a portion of lease term, economic penalties apply to the entire contract period. 

In case there is an option to extend the lease term and the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option, the Group also 
takes the extension into account while defining the lease term. The Group analysed its contracts and in a number of cases, 
there was an automatic prolongation of contract in case the contract expired and neither party expressed willingness to cancel. 
In such cases contracts prescribed the exact term by which the contract should be extended. The terms by which specific 
contracts are automatically extended are based on the Group’s operation department’s judgment of how much more time they 
are planning to lease property in case the lease term is automatically extended. Therefore, the Group concluded that it is 
appropriate to define the lease term in this case to include the period over which the contract was automatically extended as 
this represents the operation department’s best estimate of expected use of the leased asset.  

Non-refundable taxes related to lease contracts 

The Group also considered its approach to value added tax (“VAT”) related to lease payments. Since a significant portion of 
the healthcare business is not subject to VAT, the Group does not a get refund from the state for the VAT paid on lease 
payments. Therefore, the Group considered whether the non-refundable VAT should be added to monthly lease payments 
and discounted together with the base amount to form the part of the right of use asset, however after analyzing the IFRS 
literature the Group concluded that it is appropriate to exclude the VAT and account for separately as an expense even though 
it is non-refundable. 

Lease payments 

The Group did not identify any agreements that include variable payments that do not depend on either index or rate, apart 
from the contractual fixed payments.  
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3.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

IFRS 16 Leases (continued) 

c) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and profit or loss IFRS 16.53  

Set out below, are the carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities and the movements during the 
year: 

 
Right-of-use 

assets  Lease liabilities 

As at 1 January 2019  673    673  
Net additions  3,950    3,950  
Depreciation expense  (805)  – 
Interest expense –   188  
Net losses from foreign currencies –   61  
Payments –   (1,015) 
Other –    197  

As at 31 December 2019  3,818     4,054  

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment 

The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the 
application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically 
include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically 
addresses the following: 

Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately 

 The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities 

 How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates 

 How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances 

The Group determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other 
uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. 

The Group applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments. Since the Group operates in 
a complex multinational environment, it assessed whether the Interpretation had an impact on its consolidated financial 
statements. 

Upon adoption of the Interpretation, the Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions, particularly those 
relating to transfer pricing. The Company’s and the subsidiaries’ tax filings in different jurisdictions include deductions related 
to transfer pricing and the taxation authorities may challenge those tax treatments. The Group determined, based on its tax 
compliance and transfer pricing study, that it is probable that its tax treatments (including those for the subsidiaries) will be 
accepted by the taxation authorities. The Interpretation did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group. 

Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ 
(the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments 
to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of an event or circumstance that causes the early 
termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination 
of the contract. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 

The amendments to IAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs during a 
reporting period. The amendments specify that when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs during the annual 
reporting period, an entity is required to determine the current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan 
amendment, curtailment or settlement, using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the net defined benefit liability 
(asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event. An entity is also required to determine 
the net interest for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using the net defined 
benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event, and the discount rate 
used to remeasure that net defined benefit liability (asset). The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group as it did not have any plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements during the period.  
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3.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture to which the equity 
method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture (long-term 
interests). This clarification is relevant because it implies that the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 applies to such long-
term interests. The amendments also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any losses of the 
associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised as adjustments to the net investment 
in the associate or joint venture that arise from applying IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. These 
amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have long-term interests in its 
associate and joint venture. 

Standards issued but not yet effective 

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and 
interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. 

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business 

In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to the definition of a business in IFRS 3 Business Combinations to help 
entities determine whether an acquired set of activities and assets is a business or not. They clarify the minimum requirements 
for a business, remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing elements, add 
guidance to help entities assess whether an acquired process is substantive, narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs, 
and introduce an optional fair value concentration test. New illustrative examples were provided along with the amendments. 
Since the amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other events that occur on or after the date of first application, 
the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date of transition. 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material 

In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards and to clarify certain 
aspects of the definition. The new definition states that, ’Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis 
of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity. The amendments to the 
definition of material is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it applies the requirements 
for a business combination achieved in stages, including remeasuring previously held interests in the assets and liabilities of 
the joint operation at fair value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its entire previously held interest in the joint operation. 
An entity applies those amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of 
the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early application permitted. These amendments 
had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as there is no transaction where joint control is obtained. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 

An entity that participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain joint control of the joint 
operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3. The amendments clarify that 
the previously held interests in that joint operation are not remeasured. An entity applies those amendments to transactions 
in which it obtains joint control on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 
2019, with early application permitted. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group as there is no transaction where a joint control is obtained. 

IAS 12 Income Taxes 

The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly to past transactions or events 
that generated distributable profits than to distributions to owners. Therefore, an entity recognises the income tax 
consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where it originally recognised 
those past transactions or events. An entity applies the amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019, with early application permitted. When the entity first applies those amendments, it applies them to the income 
tax consequences of dividends recognised on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period. Since the Group’s 
current practice is in line with these amendments, they had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
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3.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle (continued) 

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 

The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally made to develop a 
qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare that asset for its intended use or sale are complete. 
The entity applies the amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in 
which the entity first applies those amendments. An entity applies those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019, with early application permitted. Since the Group’s current practice is in line with these 
amendments, they had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

4. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates  

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of estimates, assumptions and judgments. These estimates 
and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities at the reporting date as well as 
affecting the reported income and expenses for the period. Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 
and judgment of current facts as at the reporting date, the actual outcome may differ from these estimates.  The key 
assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period are 
discussed below. 

Goodwill impairment test 

Significant accounting judgments and estimates related to goodwill impairment test are presented in Note 9. 

Impairment of receivables from healthcare services  

The impairment provision for receivables from healthcare services is based on the Group’s assessment of the collectability of 
specific customer accounts. If there is a sign of deterioration in an individually significant customer's creditworthiness, the 
respective receivable is considered to be impaired. A key criterion for defining the signs of such deterioration is the customers’ 
debt services quality measured by the numbers of days in arrears (i.e. the number of days for overdue payments). Based on 
the respective analysis of the current and past debt services of the customers, the Group determines whether or not there is 
an objective evidence of impairment. If yes, then the proper provision rate is applied, which reflects the credit risk associated 
with that particular category of debt services. If not, then the respective accounts receivable are assessed collectively, as a good 
quality, in a total pool for the good credit quality receivables, based on loss given default and the number of days overdue, 
which practically implies an immaterial amount of overdue days.  

For collective assessment purposes the management judgment is that historical trends can serve as a basis for predicting 
incurred losses and that this approach can be used to estimate the amount of recoverable debts as at the reporting period end. 
Assessments are updated by the Group at each reporting date. Actual results may differ from the estimates and the Group's 
estimates can be revised in the future, either negatively or positively, depending upon the outcome or expectations based on 
the facts surrounding each exposure. The amount of allowance for impairment of the healthcare receivables as at 
31 December 2019 was GEL 23,921 (2018: GEL 20,705). Refer to Note 6. 

Current income tax recognition  

The current income tax charge is calculated in accordance with Georgian legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. The Group’s main business activities are operated under tax on distributed profits regime, meaning that there 
is no tax on retained earnings starting from 2017. Respective regulatory environment in Georgia is volatile and may give rise 
to different interpretations. Further details on taxation are disclosed in Note 10.  

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 2019  2018 
Current and on-demand accounts with banks  4,450  14,321 
Cash on hand 114  83 

Total cash and cash equivalents 4,564  14,404 

Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by the counterparties holding cash and cash equivalents, and 
there are no material differences between their book and fair values. 
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6. Receivables from Healthcare Services 

 2019  2018 
Receivables from State   109,998   94,584 
Receivables from individuals and other   27,013   22,742 
Receivables from insurance companies  17,192   12,385 
  154,203   129,711 
Less – Allowance for impairment   (23,921)  (20,705) 

Total receivables from healthcare services, net  130,282   109,006 

The carrying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. 

7. Property and Equipment 

 

Hospitals 
and clinics 

Furniture 
And 

fixtures Computers 
Medical 

Equipment 
Motor 

vehicles 

Leasehold 
Improve-

ments 

Assets 
under 

constru-
ction Total 

Cost                 

1 January 2018 (restated)  323,823   11,410   8,372   167,925   3,014   6,299   327   521,170  

Additions  24,070   3,634   2,124   36,016   324   248   11   66,427  

Disposals  (6,624)  −   −   (865)  −   −   –   (7,489) 

31 December 2018 (restated)  341,269   15,044   10,496   203,076   3,338   6,547   338   580,108  

Additions  186   1,667   421   2,030   1,659   784    -    6,747  

31 December 2019  341,455   16,711   10,917   205,106   4,997   7,331   338   586,855  

         
Accumulated depreciation                 

1 January 2018 (restated) 1,067 1,700 2,327 21,244 985 566 – 27,889 

Depreciation charge 3,739 1,209 2,070 14,606 497 537 – 22,658 

Disposals – – – (865) – – – (865) 

31 December 2018 (restated) 4,806 2,909 4,397 34,985 1,482 1,103 – 49,682 

Depreciation charge  296   960   1,589   20,237   642   781    -    24,505  

31 December 2019  5,102   3,869   5,986   55,222   2,124   1,884    -    74,187  

Net book value:         
1 January 2018  322,756   9,710   6,045   146,681   2,029   5,733   327   493,281  

31 December 2018  336,463   12,135   6,099   168,091   1,856   5,444   338   530,426  

31 December 2019  336,353   12,842   4,931   149,884   2,873   5,447   338   512,668  

The Group pledges its office and hospital buildings and assets under construction as collateral for its borrowings. The carrying 
amount of the buildings and assets under construction pledged as at 31 December 2019 was GEL 336,691 (2018: 
GEL 336,801). 

In the second half of 2019, the Group changed its accounting policy with respect to hospitals and clinics and office buildings 
and now applies the cost model, instead of the revaluation model. As a result of this change, GEL 9,364 was credited to the 
respective opening balance of Property and Equipment. Due to the restatement, the Group has presented three statements 
of financial position. Each of the statement of financial position has been restated to reflect the change. 

8. Right of Use Assets and Lease Liabilities 

The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 1 

and 10 years. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. The Group also has 

certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of equipment with low value. The Group applies 
the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these leases. The Group’s obligations under 
its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing 
the leased assets. None of the contracts require the Group to maintain any financial ratios.  

The Group analysed existence of termination options. All contracts contain either monetary or economic penalty over the 
entire contract term. In most of the cases, there is a monetary penalty for lessor to repay the lessee all the initially spent 
amounts on leasehold improvements in case of cancellation. In virtually all cases, there is economic penalty for both parties 
in case of cancellation of lease contracts. For lessee economic penalties imply significant time and effort for finding a new 
location and making leasehold improvements to fit the new location to specific needs. For lessor economic penalties imply 
forgoing stable relationship with creditworthy lessee. In case of office space, economic penalty implies significant time, effort 
and cost related to relocation of office and its infrastructure. In practical terms, the abovementioned monetary and economic 
penalties translate to stable relationship and lease contracts that are prematurely cancelled in only under 1% of cases based on 
the Group’s statistical historical information.  
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8.    Right of Use Assets and Lease Liabilities (continued) 

The Group did not identify any agreements that include variable payments that do not depend on either index or rate, apart 
from the contractual fixed payments.  

Carrying value of right of use assets as at 31 December 2019 comprised GEL 3,818 (2018: nil). Carrying value of lease liabilities 
as at 31 December 2019 comprised GEL 4,054 (2018: nil). For more details, refer to Note 3. 

9. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Goodwill is tested at the lowest level monitored by management, which is at the operating segment level. The Group performs 
goodwill impairment testing annually. The latest impairment test performed by the Group was as at 31 December 2019. 
The Group did not identify any impairment of goodwill as at 31 December 2019. The recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by senior management covering from a one to three-year period. The recoverable amount of the company’s 
operating segments exceeds carrying amount by GEL 64,821 using the discount rate of 15.0%. The discount rate that brings 
value in use of operating segments equal to the carrying value is 16.0%. Decrease in growth rate by 7.4% brings value in use 
of operating segments equal to carrying value. No reasonably possible change in assumptions would lead to any impairment 
of goodwill. 

In performing goodwill impairment testing, the following key assumptions were made: 

 Discount rate was estimated using capital assets pricing model based on industry’s beta. 

 2020, 2021 and 2022 years’ cash flow projections were modelled applying 9% growth and 2022 and afterwards were 
modelled on 5% terminal growth rate. 

 Moderate, stable 4.9% real GDP growth was assumed based on the external statistical forecasts for 2022 and beyond. 

Following additional assumptions were made over the first three-year period of the business plan:  

 Further synergies will increase cost efficiency and further improve operating leverage; 

 Growth of other healthcare business lines through an increased market demand and economic growth. 

Other intangible assets comprise licenses and computer software with carrying value as at 31 December 2019 of GEL 28,808 
(2018: GEL 21,803). As at 31 December 2019, the cost of other intangible assets equalled GEL 35,113 (2018: GEL 27,890) 
and accumulated amortisation equalled GEL 6,305 (2018: GEL 4,565). The Group did not dispose any of its intangible assets 
in either 2019 or 2018. Amortisation expense during 2019 comprised GEL 3,149 (2018: GEL 2,127). The Group did not 
identify any impairment of intangible assets as at 31 December 2019. (2018: GEL 260). 

10. Taxation 

The corporate income tax (expense)/benefit for the year ended 31 December 2019 equals zero (2018: GEL 37). Georgian 
legal entities must file individual tax declarations. As at 31 December 2019, the statutory corporate tax rate was zero rate 
(2018: 0%) on retained earnings and 15% (2018: 15%) tax rate on distributed earnings.  

11. Other Assets 

 2019  2018 
Loans issued  64,904    38,344  
Receivable from sale of Megalab to GHG   11,945    – 
Prepaid operating taxes  883    795  
Operating lease receivable  1,152   541  
Investment property  838    467  
Non-medical receivables  576   – 
Derivative financial assets  125    42  
Other receivables  7,212    2,984  

Total other assets, gross  87,635    43,173  

Less – allowance for impairment  (2,428)   (2,428) 

Total other assets, net  85,207    40,745  

Loans issued as at 31 December 2019 mainly comprise loans issued to sister company JSC Evex Clinics which originated as a 
result of demerger (refer to Note 1) as well as loans issued to parent company.  
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12. Borrowings 

 2019  2018 
Borrowings from foreign financial institutions 136,113  156,449  
Borrowings from local financial institutions 5,651  – 
Other 6,735  4,658 

Total borrowings  148,499  161,107 

In the year ended 31 December 2019, borrowings from local financial institutions had an average interest rate of 12.37% per 
annum, maturing on average in 364 days. Borrowings from international financial institutions had an average interest rate of 
9.28% (2018: 9.52%), maturing in 1,591 days (2018: 1,918 days). Other borrowings mainly comprised loan from non-
controlling interest. Some borrowings are received upon certain conditions, such as maintaining different limits for leverage, 
capital investments, minimum amount of immovable property and others. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group 
complied with all these lender covenants. 

13. Accounts Payable 

 2019  2018 
Accounts payable for healthcare materials and supplies  27,749  19,419 
Payable for purchase of property and equipment 5,488  5,547  
Accounts payable for office supplies 7,464  4,085 
Accounts payable for healthcare services  1,841  1,110 
Other accounts payable  916  3,119 

Total accounts payable 43,458  33,280 

14. Debt securities issued 

In November 2019, Evex Hospitals issued five-year term local bonds of GEL 50 million. The bonds were issued at par value 
with annual coupon rate of 11.6%, representing a 310 basis points premium over the National Bank of Georgia Monetary 
Policy (refinancing) Rate. The proceeds were used to refinance borrowings from local commercial banks as well as previously 
issued debt securities. Total balance of debt securities issued as at 31 December 2019 equals GEL 111,953 (2018: GEL 93,573). 

In July 2017, Evex Hospitals issued five-year term local bonds of GEL 90 million. The bonds were issued at par value with 
an annual coupon rate of 10.5% representing a 350 basis points premium over the National Bank of Georgia Monetary Policy 
(refinancing) Rate. The proceeds were used to refinance borrowings from local commercial banks, which are a relatively more 
expensive source of funding, and also to fund planned ongoing capital expenditures. 

15. Payables for Share Acquisitions 

Payables for share acquisitions (also referred to as a “holdback” or an “acquisition holdback”) are stated at fair value and 
represent outstanding amounts payable for business combinations and acquisition of non-controlling interest in existing 
subsidiaries. Payables for business combination is a portion of the total consideration, payment of which is deferred for a 
specified period of time in the future and, usually, is contingent upon certain events or conditions precedent or covenants 
established by the buyer. These conditions are: (i) The audited total equity balance in accordance with IFRS should not be 
materially different compared to management accounts existing as at the date of deal; (ii) Material unrecorded liabilities should 
not be identified; (iii) Any liabilities of the acquiree and/or its related parties towards the acquirer should not remain unpaid 
for greater than predetermined period after acquisition. Once these conditions precedent are fulfilled, the holdback amount 
is then paid fully or adjusted, as prescribed in the share purchase agreement for each particular business combination. 

Payables for share acquisitions comprised: 

 2019   2018 

LLC Emergency Service  389   2,591  

JSC Pediatry  347   347  

Total Payables for Share Acquisitions 736   2,938 

  



JSC EVEX Hospitals Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

(Thousands of Georgian Lari unless otherwise stated) 
 

30 

16. Commitments and Contingencies 

Legal 

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions and complaints. Management believes that the ultimate 
liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or 
the results of future operations of the Group. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had litigation with the Social Service Agency (“SSA”) in relation to an aggregate amount 
of GEL 7,717 (2018: GEL 7,233). The litigation with SSA was mainly related to procedural violations in medical 
documentation as well as the billing and invoicing process. 

Taxation 

Georgian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently. 
Management's interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by 
the relevant tax authorities. Recent events within Georgia suggest that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive position 
in their interpretation of the legislation and assessments and as a result, it is possible that transactions and activities that have 
not been challenged in the past may be challenged. As such, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed. 
It is not practical to determine the amount of unasserted claims that may manifest, if any, or the likelihood of any unfavourable 
outcome. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for five calendar years preceding the 
period of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. Management believes that its interpretation 
of the relevant legislation is appropriate and that it is probable that the Group’s tax, currency and customs positions will be 
sustained. 

Financial commitments and contingencies 

The Group’s financial commitments and contingencies comprise the following: 

 2019  2018 
Capital commitments 51   1,099  
Operating lease commitments    
- Leases due not later than 1 year 126  744 
- Leases due later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 504   2,974 

Total minimum operating lease commitments 630   3,718 

Total financial commitments  681   4,817 

The Group did not have contingent rents or sublease payments. Rent expense recognised during the year equalled GEL 120 
(2018: GEL 715). Adoption of IFRS 16 in 2019, resulted in reduction of rent expense amount compared to previous year 
(refer to Note 3). 

17. Equity 

Share Capital 

As at 31 December 2019, the total outstanding shares of EVEX amounted to 47,828,217 (2018: 56,344,904) at par value of 
0.1 Georgian Laris all of which were fully paid. No dividends were announced or distributed in the period ended 31 December 
2019 and 2018. 

Nature and purpose of other reserves 

Other reserves comprise net loss on acquisition of additional interest in existing subsidiaries. The balance was GEL 14,604 in 
2019 (2018: GEL 15,819). The remaining credits to other reserves comprised GEL 1,131, which represents 85% shareholding 
interest acquisition in LLC Emergency Service, a subsidiary which was previously de-facto controlled by the Group. In 
exchange for the 85% interest in LLC Emergency Service, the Group paid cash amount of GEL 877, gave up a right to collect 
an asset in the form of prepayment of GEL 500 and gave up 15% minority shareholding interest in existing subsidiary, LLC 
Catastrophe Medicine Paediatric Centre, with book value of GEL 171 thereby reducing the shareholding interest in the entity 
from 100% to 85%. The value of 15% given up was debited to equity in the other reserves line. 
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18. Healthcare Services Revenue 

 2019  2018 

Healthcare services revenue from State (UHC)  199,394   182,529 

Healthcare services revenue from out-of-pocket and other  71,600   65,519  

Healthcare services revenue from insurance companies   19,538   17,714 

Less: Corrections & rebates   (2,206)  (3,059) 

Total healthcare services revenue  288,326   262,703 

Healthcare services revenue from State represents the revenue through UHC. 

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract assets and liabilities: 

 2019  2018 

Receivables from healthcare services 130,282  109,006 

Receivables from healthcare services are recognised when the right to consideration becomes unconditional. 

The Group applies practical expedient mentioned in IFRS 15.121 and does not disclose information about the aggregate 
amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied, the original expected duration 
of the underlying contracts is less than one year. 

19. Cost of Healthcare Services 

 2019  2018 

Cost of salaries and other employee benefits   (101,962)  (93,799) 

Cost materials and supplies   (49,472)  (44,128) 

Cost of utilities and other   (13,238)  (11,843) 

Cost of providers   (4,122)  (1,365) 

Total cost of healthcare services   (168,794)  (151,135) 

Cost of utilities and other comprise electricity, natural gas, cleaning, water supply, fuel supply, repair and maintenance of 
medical equipment. Indirect salaries that were not included in the cost of healthcare services amounted in the year ended 31 
December 2019 to GEL 21,430 (2018: GEL 21,609) and were presented as a separate line item in profit or loss. The total 
amount of salaries and other employee benefits recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the year ended 31 December 
2019 amounted to GEL 123,392 (2018: GEL 115,408). 

20. Other Operating Income 

 2019  2018 
Payables derecognised  903    1,825  
Rental Income  641    765  
Gain from property and equipment sold 1,090   208  
Share of profit of associate  357    247  

Income from residency program  322    189  

Revenue from realized stationery  38   – 

Revenue from sale of medicine –   2,564  

Litigation reserve reversal –   559  

Fee Income –   122  

Other 916   1,079  

Total other operating income  4,267    7,558  

In 2019, the Group derecognized trade payables of GEL 903 principally due to expiration of statute of limitations. 

21. Salaries and Other Employee Benefits 

 2019  2018 
Salaries and other benefits  (17,032)  (16,635) 
Cash bonuses   (2,132)  (2,557) 
Share-based compensation  (2,266)  (2,417) 

Total salaries and other employee benefits  (21,430)  (21,609) 

Average number of full-time employees, including those whose salaries are included in cost of healthcare services, in 2019 
equalled to 9,699 (2018: 8,717).  
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22. General and Administrative Expenses 

 2019  2018 
Office supplies and utility expenses  (3,879)   (3,581) 
Marketing and advertising  (1,053)   (1,192) 
Communication   (834)   (956) 
Professional services   (65)   (1,065) 
Operating tax expense  (585)   (769) 
Travel  (469)   (629) 
Representative expense  (428)   (45) 
Security  (242)   (195) 
Bank fees and commissions   (200)   (197) 
Occupancy and rent expense  (908)   (715) 
Other  (2,083)   (1,457) 

Total general and administrative expenses  (10,746)   (10,801) 

In the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, other general and administrative expenses mainly comprised of training, 
property insurance and other expenses. 

23. Impairment of Healthcare Services and Other Receivables 

 2019  2018 
1 January 23,133   20,507  
Impairment charge 4,154   4,461  
IFRS 9 adoption effect –   4,755  
Impairment of receivables due to litigations  –   2,756  
Write-off (938)   (9,346) 

31 December  26,349    23,133  

24. Other Operating Expense 

 2019  2018 

Repair and maintenance expense  (1,838)   (1,562) 

Penalties and impairment of tax assets  (797)   (388) 

Charity  (307)   (210) 

Cost of realized medicaments –   (2,725) 

Impairment of receivables due to litigations –   (2,801) 

Impairment of prepayments –   (96) 

Loss from PPE sold –   (53) 

Other  (2,195)   (464) 

Total other operating expense  (5,137)   (8,299) 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, penalty expenses mainly related to procedural violations in medical documentation 
as well as billing and invoicing process. 

25. Interest Income and Interest Expense 

 2019  2018 

Interest income    
Interest income from loans issued  5,259   3,341 
Interest income from amounts due from credit institutions  162    191 

Total interest income  5,421    3,532 

    
Interest expense     
Interest expense on borrowings  (15,518)  (12,751) 
Interest expense on debt securities issued  (9,649)  (9,125) 
Interest expense on lease  (188)  – 

Total interest expense  (25,355)   (21,876) 
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26. Net Non-Recurring (Expense)/Income  

The Group separately classifies and discloses those income and expenses that are non-recurring by nature. Any type of income 
or expense may be non-recurring by nature. The Group defines non-recurring income or expense as income or expense 
triggered by or originated from an unusual economic, business or financial event that is not inherent to the regular and ordinary 
business course of the Group and is caused by uncertain or unpredictable external factors. 

Net non-recurring expense for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprised: 

 GEL 657 loss from employee dismissal compensation; 

 GEL 94 loss from other individually insignificant transactions 

27. Discontinued operations 

On 1 April 2019, parent company, Georgia Healthcare Group PLC, updated its business structure. JSC Medical Corporation 
EVEX was divided into three segments: clinics, which include polyclinics and community clinics, hospitals which include 
referral hospitals and Diagnostics which include one large laboratory facility in Tbilisi, Georgia. As a result of this demerger, 
JSC Medical Corporation EVEX was renamed to JSC EVEX Hospitals. New legal entity, JSC EVEX Clinics, was formed and 
it operates as a separate company. JSC Megalab, whose results were earlier consolidated as part of JSC Medical Corporation 
EVEXs’ financials, now represent separate legal entity and is no longer part of JSC Medical Corporation EVEX/EVEX 
Hospitals. At 31 December 2019, JSC Megalab and JSC Evex Clinics were classified as a disposal group held for demerger 
and as a discontinued operation.  

The results of assets held for demerger for the year are presented below: 

 2019  2018 
Healthcare services revenue    10,571    39,285  
Cost of healthcare services    (5,936)   (22,938) 
Salaries and other employee benefits    (2,957)   (11,219) 
Depreciation and amortisation   (1,399)   (5,983) 
General and administrative expenses (1,250)  (5,180) 
Interest expense (1,990)  (4,674) 
Other   1,733   (625) 

Net loss for the year from discontinued operations  (1,228)   (11,334) 

The major classes of assets and liabilities as at 31 December are, as follows: 

 2018 
Property and equipment   84,782 
Right of use assets   8,799  
Goodwill and other intangible assets 13,708 
Other assets   160  

Assets held for demerger  107,449  

  
Borrowings   12,104  
Finance lease liabilities   8,676  
Other liabilities  4,160  

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for demerger   24,940  

The cash flows are, as follows: 

 2019  2018 

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,094   1,244  
Net cash used in investing activities  (714)   (12,248) 
Net cash flows from financing activities  (1,340)   11,238  
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 40  234 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 576   342  
Cash and cash equivalents, end 616   576  
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28. Share-based Compensation  

Sanne Fiduciary Services (the “Trustee”) acts as the trustee of the Group’s Employee Benefit Trust, (EBT), which was founded 
in 2015. The EBT was established for the purposes of satisfying deferred share compensation awarded to Executive Directors 
and other members of executive and senior management. 

GHG Senior Executive Plans 

In February 2019, the Board of Directors of GHG resolved to award 111,301 ordinary shares of GHG to the CEO of 
the Group. In February 2019 the Board of Directors of GHG resolved to award 173,121 ordinary shares of GHG to 
three executives. The shares were awarded with a three-year vesting period, with continuous employment being the only 
vesting condition for both awards. The Group considers 8 February 2019 as the grant date for the awards to the CEO and 
other executives. The Group estimates that the fair value of the shares awarded was GEL 8.02 per share as at grant date. 
The fair values were identified based on market prices on grant date. As at 31 December 2019, no shares have been vested. 

In December 2017, the Board of Directors of GHG resolved to award 122,900 ordinary shares of GHG to the CEO of 
the Group. In December 2017 the Board of Directors of GHG resolved to award 107,200 ordinary shares of GHG to 
three executives. The shares were awarded with a three-year vesting period, with continuous employment being the only 
vesting condition for both awards. The Group considers 10 December 2017 as the grant date for the awards to the CEO and 
other executives. The Group estimates that the fair value of the shares awarded was GEL 12.54 per share as at grant date. 
The fair values were identified based on market prices on grant date. As at 31 December 2019, one third of the discretionary 
shares have been vested. 

In February 2016, the Board of Directors of GHG resolved to award 237,500 ordinary shares of GHG to the CEO of the 
Group. In February 2016, the Board of Directors of GHG resolved to award 281,000 ordinary shares of GHG to 3 executives. 
The shares were awarded with a three-year vesting period, with continuous employment being the only vesting condition for 
both awards. The Group considers 15 February 2016 as the grant date for the awards to the CEO and other executives. The 
Group estimates that the fair value of the shares awarded was GEL 6.28 per share as at grant date. The fair values were 
identified based on market prices on grant date. As at 31 December 2017, two thirds of the discretionary shares have been 
vested. 

In January 2015, the CEO of the Group and the deputies signed five-year fixed contingent share-based compensation 
agreements for the total of 1,670,000 ordinary shares of GHG. The total amount of shares allocated to each executive will be 
awarded in five equal installments during the five consecutive years starting January 2017, of which each award will be subject 
to a four-year vesting period with 20% of shares vesting during the first three years and 40% of shares vesting during the 
fourth year. The Group considers 1 January 2015 and 29 April 2015 as the grant dates for the awards to the CEO and deputies 
respectively. The Group estimates that the fair value of the shares awarded was GEL 2.18 per share as at the respective grant 
dates. The respective fair values were estimated using appropriate valuation techniques based on market and income 
approaches. As at 31 December 2018, 12% of the shares have been vested. 

29. Capital Management  

Capital under management consists of share capital, additional paid-in capital, retained earnings including profit or loss of the 
current year, revaluation and other reserves and non-controlling interests. The Group has established the following capital 
management objectives, policies and approach to managing the risks that affect its capital position.  

The capital management objectives are as follows: 

 To maintain the required level of stability of the Group thereby providing a degree of security to the shareholders;  

 To allocate capital efficiently and support the development of business by ensuring that returns on capital employed 
meet the requirements of its capital providers and of its shareholders;  

 To maintain financial strength to support new business growth and to satisfy the requirements of the shareholders. 

 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: 

 
Borrowings  

Debt securities 
issued  Total 

1 January 2019  161,107    93,573    254,680  

Proceeds from borrowings  6,582    49,750    56,332  
Repayment of borrowings  (23,998)   (30,300)   (54,298) 
Interest expense 15,518  9,649  25,167 
Interest paid  (15,991)    (10,719)   (26,710)  
Foreign exchange loss  5,281   –   5,281  

31 December 2019  148,499    111,953    260,452  
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29.    Capital Management (continued) 

 Borrowings 
 

Debt securities 
issued  

Total 

1 January 2018  168,056    93,493    261,549  

Proceeds from borrowings  16,991   –   16,991  
Repayment of borrowings  (31,590)  –   (31,590) 
Interest expense 12,751  9,125  21,876 
Interest paid  (9,856)   (9,045)    (18,901) 
Capitalised borrowings costs 2,576  –  2,576 
Foreign exchange loss  2,179   –   2,179  

31 December 2018  161,107    93,573    254,680  

30. Risk Management 

Introduction 

Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and 
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing 
profitability and each individual within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. 
The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. It is also subject to operational risks. The independent risk 
control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment, technology and industry. They are 
monitored through the Group’s and the Parent’s strategic planning process.  

Management Board 

In 2019 and 2018, management board of the Parent had responsibility to monitor and manage the entire risk process within 
the respective EVEX components on a regular basis, by assigning tasks, creating different executive committees, designing 
and setting up risk management policies and procedures as well as respective guidelines and controlling the implementation 
and performance of relevant departments and committees.  

Internal Audit 

In 2019 and 2018, risk management processes throughout the Group were audited annually by the internal audit function that 
examined both the adequacy of the procedures and the Group’s compliance with the procedures. Internal Audit discusses the 
results of all assessments with management and reports its findings and recommendations to the Supervisory Board. 

Risk measurement and reporting systems 

The Group’s risks are measured using a method which reflects both the expected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances 
and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss based on different forecasting models. The models 
make use of probabilities derived from historical experience, adjusted to reflect the economic environment. The Group runs 
three different basic scenarios, of which one is the Base Case (forecast under normal business conditions) and the other two 
are the Troubled and Distressed Scenarios, which are worse and the worst-case scenarios, respectively, that would arise in the 
event that extreme events that are unlikely to occur do, in fact, occur. Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed 
based on limits established by the Group. These limits reflect the business strategy and market environment of the Group as 
well as the level of risk that the Group is willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries. In addition, the 
Group monitors and measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risk types 
and activities. 

Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyse, control and identify early risks. 
This information is presented and explained to the Management Board and the head of each business division. The reports 
include aggregate receivables exposures and credit exposures, their limits, exceptions to those limits, liquidity ratios and 
liquidity limits, market risk ratios and their limits, and changes to the risk profile. Senior management assesses the 
appropriateness of the levels of liquidity, credit positions, receivables positions and allowance for impairment on a monthly 
basis. The Management Board receives a comprehensive risk report once a month. These reports are designed to provide all 
the necessary information to assess and conclude on the risks of the Group.  

Risk mitigation 

As part of its overall risk management, the Group uses derivatives and other instruments to manage exposures to net currency 
position, interest rates and credit risks. The Group actively uses a collective financial responsibility approach to individual 
healthcare customers arising from the provision of healthcare services to out-of-pocket customers, to manage the respective 
individual debtors arising from healthcare services falling out of the scope of the UHC.  
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30. Risk Management (continued) 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties fail to discharge their 
contractual obligations. The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to 
accept for individual counterparties and for product and currency concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to 
such limits. Also, the Group establishes and regularly monitors credit terms by types of debtors, which is a proactive tool for 
managing the credit risk.  

The Group has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the 
creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular analysis of debt service and ageing of receivables. Counterparty limits are 
established in combination with credit terms. The credit quality review process allows the Group to assess the potential loss 
as a result of the risks to which it is exposed and take corrective action. 

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group based on number of overdue days. The table below shows 
maximum exposure to credit risk and credit quality by class of asset in the statement of financial position.  

Credit quality per class of financial assets 

31 December 2019 Notes 

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired  

 Past-due 
but not 

impaired 

 

Impaired  

 

Total  
Receivables from healthcare services 6  81,536    48,746    23,921    154,203  
Other assets: loans issued 11  64,904   –  –   64,904  
 

  146,440    48,746    23,921    219,107  

 

31 December 2018 Notes 

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired  

 
Past-due 
but not 

impaired 

 

Impaired  

 

Total  
Amounts due from credit institutions  169  –  –  169 
Receivables from healthcare services 6 71,162  39,919  18,630  129,711 
Other assets: loans issued and lease deposit 11 38,344  –  –  38,344 
 

 109,675  39,919  18,630  168,224 

Included in past due but not impaired category are the receivables and financial assets that are overdue for not more than 
30 days or are overdue more than 30 days but have not been impaired due to objective reasons. Otherwise those receivables 
and financial assets that are overdue for more than 30 days are considered as impaired. The Group does not have a credit 
rating system to evaluate impaired loans. Therefore, impairment charges and allowance are based on the number of days 
overdue and the history of past performance by each time bucket of overdue exposures.  

Liquidity risk and funding management  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet all its payment obligations when they fall due under normal or 
stress circumstances. To limit this risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its capital, manages 
assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a regular basis. This incorporates daily monitoring 
of expected cash flows and liquidity needs.  

The Group manages the maturities of its assets and liabilities for better matching, which helps the Group additionally mitigate 
the liquidity risk. The major liquidity risks confronting the Group are the daily calls on its available cash resources in respect 
of supplier contracts and the maturity of borrowings. 

The table below analyses assets and liabilities of the Group into their relevant maturity groups based on the remaining period 
at the reporting date to their contractual maturities or expected repayment dates. 
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30. Risk Management (continued) 

Liquidity risk and funding management (continued) 

31 December 2019 
Less than   More than  Total 
one year one year 

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents  4,564   –   4,564  
Receivables from healthcare services  117,034    13,248    130,282  
Inventory  16,465   –   16,465  
Prepayments  4,460   –   4,460  
Current income tax assets  86   –   86  
Investment in associate –   7,840    7,840  
Property and equipment –   512,668    512,668  
Right of use assets –   3,818    3,818  
Goodwill and other intangible assets –   56,669    56,669  
Other assets  2,789    82,418    85,207  

Total assets 145,398   676,661   822,059 

       

Liabilities      
Accruals for employee compensation  17,475   –   17,475  
Accounts payable  43,458   –   43,458  
Current income tax liabilities  29   –   29  
Lease liabilities  734    3,320    4,054  
Payable for share acquisitions –   736    736  
Borrowings  42,852    105,647    148,499  
Debt securities issued  2,253    109,700    111,953  
Other liabilities  3,285    908    4,193  

Total liabilities  110,086    220,311    330,397  

Net position  35,312    456,350    491,662  

Accumulated gap  35,312    491,662    

 

31 December 2018 
Less than   More than  Total 
one year one year 

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents  14,404   –   14,404  
Amounts due from credit institutions  169   –   169  
Receivables from healthcare services  94,824    14,182    109,006  
Inventory  17,979   –   17,979  

Prepayments  800    2,274    3,074  

Current income tax assets  75   –   75  
Investment in associate –   7,483    7,483  
Property and equipment –   530,426    530,426  
Goodwill and other intangible assets –   49,664    49,664  
Other assets  39,465    1,280    40,745  

  167,716    605,309    773,025  
Assets held for demerger  107,449   –   107,449  

Total assets  275,165    605,309    880,474  
      
Liabilities      
Accruals for employee compensation  17,954   –   17,954  
Accounts payable  27,036    6,244    33,280  
Current income tax liabilities  33   –   33  
Payable for share acquisitions –   2,938    2,938  
Borrowings  23,409    137,698    161,107  
Debt securities issued –   93,573    93,573  
Other liabilities  6,760   –   6,760  

  75,192    240,453    315,645  

Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for demerger  24,940   –   24,940  

Total liabilities  100,132    240,453    340,585  

Net position  175,033    364,856    539,889  

Accumulated gap  175,033    539,889    
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30. Risk Management (continued) 

Liquidity risk and funding management (continued) 

Management believes that the current level of the Group’s liquidity is sufficient to meet all its present obligations and settle 
liabilities in timely manner. The Group also matches the maturity of financial assets and financial liabilities and imposes a 
maximum limit on negative gaps.  

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
repayment obligations. Repayments, which are subject to notice, are treated as if notice were to be given immediately.  

31 December 2019 
Less than   3 to   1 to   Over   Total 
3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years 

Accounts payable  43,458   –  –  –   43,458  
Accruals for employee compensation  17,475   –  –  –   17,475  
Debt securities issued  4,471    8,263    148,842   –   161,576  
Borrowings  18,906    28,710    125,485   –   173,101  
Payable for share acquisition –  –   736   –   736  
Lease liabilities  430    1,133    2,382    1,132    5,077  

Total undiscounted financial liabilities  84,740    38,106    277,445    1,132    401,423  

 

31 December 2018 
Less than   3 to   1 to   Over   Total 
3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years 

Accounts payable 27,036  –  6,244  –  33,280 
Accruals for employee compensation 17,954  –  _  –  17,954 
Debt securities issued 4,877  4,712  118,350  –  127,939 
Borrowings 27,889  27,761  135,435  18,937  210,022 
Payable for share acquisition – 

 
–  2,938  –  2,938 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 77,756  32,473  262,967  18,937  392,133 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest 
rates and foreign exchange rates. The Group has exposure to market risks. The Group structures the levels of market risk it 
accepts through a Group market risk policy that determines what constitutes market risk for the Group.  

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the fair value of the financial instruments 
or the future cash flows on financial instruments. The Group has floating interest rate borrowings linked to LIBOR and NBG 
short-term loan refinancing rates and is therefore exposed to interest rate risk. 

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018 
 GEL US$ EUR  GEL US$ EUR 

Borrowings 12.77% 4.92% 8.00%  11.51% 6.87% 12.00% 

Sensitivity of the consolidated profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the interest expense for 
the year. During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, sensitivity analysis did not reveal any significant potential effect 
on the Group’s equity. The following table demonstrates sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with a ll 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s consolidated profit or loss: 

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018 

Currency 
Increase in  
basis points  

Sensitivity of 
interest expense  

Increase in  
basis points  

Sensitivity of 
interest expense 

GEL +0.96%  583  +1.04%  1,676 
USD +2.0%  1,657  +0.25%  403 
         
GEL -0.96%  (583)  -1.04%  (1,676) 
USD -2.0%  (1,657)  -0.25%  (403) 
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30. Risk Management (continued) 

Currency risk 

The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position 
and cash flows. The Group’s principal transactions are carried out in Georgian Lari and its exposure to foreign exchange risk 
arises primarily with respect to U.S. Dollar. 

The Group’s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies as its liabilities, which is the functional currency 
of the Group entities – Lari. Most of the Group’s operations are denominated in Lari too. This fact mitigates the foreign 
currency exchange rate risk operationally. The main foreign exchange risk arises from U.S. Dollars denominated borrowings 
that are partially hedged through cash deposits with banks, also denominated in U.S. Dollars and the foreign currency forward 
contracts with the Group’s counterparties. The Group also hedges currency risk component of two of its fixed assets that are 
intended for disposal through foreign exchange denominated borrowings (Note 3). The hedge was fully effective in 2019. The 
gross value of foreign exchange fluctuation hedged equalled 2019: GEL 866 gain (2018: GEL 498 gain, of which GEL 126 is 
attributable to assets held for demerger) on both hedged items and hedging instrument. 

The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2019 and 2018 on its 
monetary assets and liabilities. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against 
the Georgian Lari, with all other variables held constant on the profit or loss. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential 
net reduction in profit or loss, while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase. 

 31 December 2019 
 GEL US$ EUR Total 

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents  4,106 122 336 4,564 
Other assets: loans issued  52,766  12,138 – 64,904 

Total monetary assets  56,872 12,260 336 69,468 
     

Liabilities      

Borrowings   82,898   60,734   4,867   148,499  

Lease liabilities  490   3,564  –  4,054  

Total monetary liabilities   83,388   64,298   4,867   152,553  

Net monetary position, before derivatives   (26,516)  (52,038)  (4,531)  (83,085) 
     

Derivative financial instruments  (4,773)  4,898  –  125  

Hedge accounting position –  16,934  –  16,934  

Net monetary position including derivatives   (31,289)  (30,206)  (4,531)  (66,026) 
     
% Increase in currency exchange rate   12.38% 10.88%  

Effect on profit before income tax expense   (3,740)  (493)  

% Decrease in currency exchange rate   -12.38% -10.88%  

Effect on profit before income tax expense  3,740 493  
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30. Risk Management (continued) 

Currency risk (continued) 

 31 December 2018 
 GEL US$ EUR Total 

Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents   14,392   10   2   14,404  

Other assets: loans issued and lease deposit  27,632   10,712  –  38,344  

Assets held for demerger  647  – –  647  

Total monetary assets   42,671   10,722   2   53,395  
 

    
Liabilities      
Borrowings   88,774   68,031   4,302   161,107  
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for 

demerger –  8,676  –  8,676  

Total monetary liabilities   88,774   76,707   4,302   169,783  

Net monetary position, before derivatives   (46,103)  (65,985)  (4,300)  (116,388) 
      
Derivative financial instruments  (52,753)  52,795  –  42  

Hedge accounting position –  15,805  –  15,805  

Net monetary position including derivatives   (98,856)  2,615   (4,300)  (100,541) 
 

    
% Increase in currency exchange rate   10.04% 8.55%  
Effect on profit before income tax expense   263   (368)  
% Decrease in currency exchange rate   -10.04% -8.55%  
Effect on profit before income tax expense   (263)  368   

As part of its risk management, the Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage exposures resulting from 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had US$ 1.7 million (2018: US$ 19.7 million) 
notional value foreign exchange forward contracts. 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to 
operate effectively, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial 
loss. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and 
responding to potential risks, the Group is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, 
authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit.  

Operating environment 

The Group’s business is concentrated in Georgia. As an emerging market, Georgia does not possess a well-developed business 
and regulatory infrastructure that would generally exist in a more mature market economy. Operations in Georgia may involve 
risks that are not typically associated with those in developed markets (including the risk that the Georgian Lari is not freely 
convertible outside the country and undeveloped debt and equity markets). However, over the last few years the Georgian 
government has made a number of developments that positively affect the overall investment climate of the country, 
specifically implementing the reforms necessary to create banking, judicial, taxation and regulatory systems. This includes the 
adoption of a new body of legislation (including new Tax Code and procedural laws). In the view of the Board, these steps 
contribute to mitigate the risks of doing business in Georgia.  

The existing tendency aimed at the overall improvement of the business environment is expected to persist. The future stability 
of the Georgian economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and developments and the effectiveness of economic, 
financial and monetary measures undertaken by the Government. However, the Georgian economy is vulnerable to market 
downturns and economic slowdowns elsewhere in the world.  
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31. Fair Value Measurements 

Fair value hierarchy 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability. The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the 
fair value:  

 Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2: techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either 
directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 
observable market data. 

The following tables show analysis of assets and liabilities measured at fair value or for which fair values are disclosed by level 
of the fair value hierarchy. They also include a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s 
financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements.  

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total  
 

Carrying  
 

Unrecognised  

fair value  value  gain (loss)  

31-Dec-19 31-Dec-19 31-Dec-19 

Assets measured at fair value                  
Other assets: derivative financial assets  –  125 – 125  125   –  
Liabilities measured at fair value         
Payables for share acquisitions: holdback 

for business acquisitions – – 736 736  736  – 

Assets for which fair values are disclosed        
Cash and cash equivalents  –   4,564     -     4,564    4,564     –   
Receivables from healthcare services  –    –    130,282   130,282    130,282     –   
Property and equipment  –    –   522,032  522,032    512,668    (9,364) 
Right of use assets  –    –    3,818   3,818    3,818     –   
Other assets: loans issued  –    –    64,904   64,904    64,904     –   
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed        
Borrowings  –   –   151,511   151,511    148,499    (3,012) 
Debt Securities issued  –   –   112,354   112,354    111,953    (401) 
Payable for share acquisition  –   –  736 736  736   –  
Lease liabilities  –   –   4,174   4,174    4,054    (120) 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total  
 

Carrying  
 

Unrecognised  

fair value  value  gain (loss)  

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-18 

Assets measured at fair value                  
Other assets: derivative financial assets  –  42 – 42  42   –  
Assets for which fair values are disclosed        

Cash and cash equivalents  –  14,404   -   14,404  14,404    –   
Amounts due from credit institutions  –   –  169 169  169    –   
Receivables from healthcare services  –   –  109,006 109,006  109,006    –   
Property and equipment  –   –  539,790 539,790  530,426   (9,364) 
Other assets: loans issued  –   –  38,344 38,344  38,344    –   
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed        

Borrowings  –   –  164,586 164,586  161,107   (3,479) 
Debt Securities issued  –   –  93,434 93,434  93,573   139  
Payable for share acquisition  –   –  2,938 2,938  2,938   –  

The following is a description of the determination of fair value for financial instruments and property that are recorded at 
fair value using valuation techniques. These incorporate the Group’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant would 
make when valuing the instruments.  

Derivative financial instruments  

Derivative financial instruments valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs comprise forward foreign 
exchange contracts. The applied valuation technique employs a discounted forward pricing model. The model incorporates 
various inputs including the foreign exchange spot and forward rates. 

Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value  

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or have a short-term maturity (less than three months) as well as for 
all short-term state receivables it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate their fair value. This assumption is also 
applied to variable rate financial instruments.  
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31. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

Fixed rate financial instruments 

The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost is estimated by comparing market interest 
rates when they were first recognised with current market rates offered for similar financial instruments. The estimated fair 
value of fixed interest-bearing deposits is based on a discounted cash flow analysis using prevailing money-market interest 
rates for debts with similar credit risk and maturity. 

32. Related Party Transactions 

In accordance with IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering 
each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 

Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties might not, and transactions between related parties may 
not be affected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions between unrelated parties. All transactions with 
related parties disclosed below have been conducted on an arm’s length basis. 

The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and related expense and income for the year 
are as follows: 

 31 December 2019  31 December 2018 

 Parent* 

Entities under  
common 
control** Other*** 

 

Parent* 

Entities under  
common 
control** Other*** 

Assets        
Receivables from healthcare services  –   12,208  –   – 5,365 – 
Other assets: Loans issued   25,908   37,992  –   4,091 34,009 – 
Other assets: Derivative financial assets  –   125   –   – 42 – 
Other assets: Other  –   5,974  –   – – – 

  25,908   56,299   -    4,091 39,416 – 

Liabilities        
Borrowings*  –  –  6,735   – 1,111 4,658 
Debt securities issued  500  17,233  –   –  –  – 
Accounts payable  –  25,787  –   – 285 – 
Accruals for employee compensation  –  540   –   – 315 – 
Other liabilities  –  30   –   – 1,134 – 

 500  43,590  6,735   –  2,845  4,658 

 

 Year ended 31 December 2019  Year ended 31 December 2018 

 Parent* 

Entities under  
common 
control** Other*** 

 

Parent* 

Entities under  
common 
control** Other*** 

Income and expenses        
Healthcare services revenue  –   12,798  –    –   9,668  – 
General and administrative expenses  –   (19)  –    –   (179) – 
Cost of healthcare services  –   (11,280)  –    –   (1,273) – 
Interest income   2,036   3,169  –    2,536   48  – 
Interest expense   –   (778)  (504)   –   (372) (590)  
Net gains from foreign currencies  –   72   –    –   91  – 
Salaries and other employee benefits  –  (248)  –    –  (365) – 
Other operating income  –   327   –    –   2,904  – 
Other operating expenses  –   (286)  –    –   (2,937) – 

  2,036   3,755  (504)   2,536   7,585 (590)  

* As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 and for the years then ended parent includes JSC Georgia Healthcare Group figures. 
** Entities under common control include Georgia Capital PLC subsidiaries. 
*** Other related parties comprise minority shareholder in GNCo and an associate company Geolab  

Compensation of key management personnel comprised the following: 

 2019  2018 
Salaries and cash bonuses  4,218   3,794 
Share-based compensation  4,310   4,107 

Total key management compensation*  8,528   7,901 

*    Key management personnel represent board of directors.  
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33. Events after Reporting Period 

As a result of global pandemic in relation to COVID-19, the Group has developed a significant Group-wide action plan to 
address the outside demand, our customers and patients’ needs, as well as to ensure the performance and well-being of our 
employees at an organisational level. The Group remains in constant contact with the Georgian NCDC and Ministry of 
Labour, Health and Social Affairs and as at the date of the Annual Report and Accounts are awaiting further instructions, 
should additional activities become necessary. Given the current level of uncertainty with regard to the global impact of 
COVID-19, and the potential length of time of that impact the Group is also reconsidering its capital expenditure projects 
and at this time is prioritising only those that are important to current business’ operations.  
 
Management is closely monitoring the situation around COVID-19 in Georgia and managing stock, liquidity and other 
activities accordingly. In addition to successfully renegotiated increase in its Net debt to EBITDA covenant for Q1-Q3 2020 
with its two lenders in December 2019, on 16 March 2020 the Group received one more formal agreement to retain Net debt 
to EBITDA covenant limit at 3.0 instead of 2.5 throughout 2020 year. As a preventing measure, management continues 
negotiations with its lenders to further revise Net debt to EBITDA covenant up to 3.5 starting from April 2020 up to 31 
December 2020. Subsequent to 31 December 2019, the Group drew on its credit lines in aggregate amount of GEL 12 million 
at NBG refinancing rate+3.5% per annum. 


